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LAFAYETTE’S "RED” CANAL WAREHOUSE
USED AS CIVIL WAR PRISON BARRACKS

by Wanda Lou Willis

Between 10,000 and 15,000 Rebel prisoners were taken at Fort
Donelson. Of that number 6,000 were sent to Indianapolis. However,
the city was unable to accommodate this large number. Lafayette,
Richmond and Terre Haute agreed to accept some of the captives.
Lafayette received 800, including a small number of “contrabands” (slaves
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brought into the Union lines).

The prisoners, members of the 32nd and 4 1st Tennessee regiments, arrived
in Lafayette on February 23, 1862. Union soldiers guarded the men as they
walked along the Wabash and Erie towpath from the South Street Station
to the “Red” canal warehouse on the East bank of the canal. Many of them
were young men; some were just boys. Few were in uniforms; most wore
butternut jeans. Many had severe colds; 12 or 14 were seriously ill.

Two other buildings were put into service as hospital barracks: The Walsh
Hall on South Street and Sample’s porkhouse near the canal. Soon the
majority of the prisoners were ill with “camp diarrhea,” typhoid and
pneumonia. The more serious of these were transferred to the city’s 70 bed
South Street Hospital.

A newspaper account, dated March 31, 1862, stated that 33 prisoners died
while incarcerated at Lafayette. Twenty-eight were buried in Greenbush
cemetery.

(At the time of the WPA Writer’s Project the ‘Red’ canal warehouse,
owned by W.K. Rochester, was still standing.)

THE DAM AT THE JUNCTION
OF THE

WHITEWATER
AND

CINCINNATI & WHITEWATER CANALS
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the Whitewater River that pooled the water for the canals. He found the
followmg pieces of information at the Cincinnati library which give the
v f the: dam and deedmg of the land to the Cmcmnan &

new information for the CSI files.

REPORT TO THE
OHIO BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS

In his January 24th, 1837 Report to the Ohio Board of Public Works,
Principal Engineer, Samuel Forrer, Esq. included the following report he
had received from Darius Lapham, the surveyor and resident engineer.
Lapham also is the man who recommended and designed the Cleves
Tunnel connecting Cleves and North Bend, OH on the Cincinnati &
Whitewater Canal. An article about the tunnel and a part of Lapham’s
report that appeared in the Erasmus Gest Papers were in the CSI
Newsletter Vol. 10 No. 6 June 1996.

Owing to ill health in the latter part of summer and the consequent
accumulation of duties on the Miami Canal, I was prevented from making
the survey and estimate of the Canal to connect Cincinnati with the White
Water Canal in the State of Indiana, required by a resolution of the last
General Assembly of Ohio, until late in December; the weather being then
so unfavorable that I could not give the route that careful examination,
which would have been desirable, had the weather been more pleasant. I
succeeded, however, with the aid of previous examinations, made in the
summer, to obtain sufficient data, by which to make an estimate of the
probable expense, and a map showing the route of the Canal, which I
herewith submit for your examination and further disposition.

The survey was commenced on the 23rd of December last, at the point
where the line between the State of Ohio and Indiana, crosses the White
Water River, about three-fourths of a mile south of Harrison, immediately
above the dam, in the pool of which, the White Water Canal of Indiana
crosses that river. The north end of the dam as it is now located, is three
chains below the state line, leaving sufficient room for the Branch Canal,
to enter the pool of the dam within the State of Ohio, and from thence by
making use of the guard bank along the north side of the river for a towing



w‘
Page 4 = Indiana Canals

path, boats can be towed up to the mouth of the White Water Canal, a
distance of 18 chains. This mode of connection may be rendered
comparatively safe, by the construction of a mole or embankment, from the
abutment of the dam, in a direction a little diverging from the bank of the
river, until it intersects the line of the State. A safer and more
advantageous connection could be made by continuing the Canal
independent of the river, up to the basin proposed to be made, near the
entrance of the Indiana Canal into the river. Upon this plan of connection,
there will be 18 chains ( 1/4 mile) of Canal to be made in the State of
Indiana, which will require some legislative provision on the part of
Indiana, to authorize the State of Ohio, or a Company, acting under a
charter from the State, to make this portion of the Canal within her
territory.

The valley on the east side of the White Water, below Harrison, consists of
a series of benches of different heights, gradually declining towards the
mouth, and alternately approaching and receding from the river, rendering
it a difficult task to locate a canal upon it, of one continued level, at a
reasonable expense, without making the route too circuitous. To avoid this
difficulty it is proposed to locate the canal as excavation to station number
40, and to make a lock of four feet fall at this point, which will serve the
double purpose of a gnard and lift lock. The depth of cutting on these 40
stations may be so regulated as that the earth to be removed will be
sufficient to raise the banks above the floods of the river. A considerable
saving in expense is effected by making this fall as well as an improvement
in the direction of the canal. There is also another important advantage in
combining a lift with a guard lock, in the gates being always closed against
a sudden rise of the river. (This report continues and includes mention of
the tunnel later built at Cleves)
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This is a copy of the deed of John Godley to the Cincinnati &
Whitewater Canal found in Dearborn County Deed Book #2, page
220.The text is presented beginning on the following page.




Page 6 Indiana Canals

SALE OF LAND TO THE
CINCINNATI & WHITEWATER
CANAL COMPANY
BY JOHN AND MARY ANN GODLEY

The following pages from Dearborn County records show that the deeds
were originally made on one date and later recorded into the book at a later
date. (Anexplanation about this practice follows the three deeds.) In this
book the seals of the individuals were shown as squiggly circles with the
word seal written on the inside of them. This will be shown as SEAL on
the following documents. Please take into consideration that these
documents were hand written and often very difficult to read. Often the
words were spelled incorrectly, punctuation used incorrectly, and words
were capitalized. The spelling of the Whitewater Canal in all cases was
White Water Canal.

Page 220 of Deed Book 2 Dearborn County

hundhred ¥ forly seven; beloween John god/ey/
fot fand, and lhe Cincinnale and While
& in consideralior of the sum of 97%/ Dollars
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any wise affrerlaining: ¥ the rents issue and. ||
WW Jo//omMIof/wM{/»a
W%’W zﬂ.%wwmm
Jfrromise covenantand agree lo & willy the said
and assigns; thathe is the true ¥ lawful cwwner
vight of atll fower and lawful anlhorily losell
and convey lhe same in mannev ¥ form
frremises; with theiv afferrlenances & éaumy/
frewons Whoemsoever Inlestimony wherect the
said Jotn Godley has here unlo sel hand ¥
WJWJWWWWWW
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John Godley SEAL

Clement Dare @W RBatltoa;

Ghe Hale: Indiana Dearborn @WW ,ag
freace in  aforesaid @om@éy/ Wna/@/ .
grantov ¥ ackrowledged the above Deed of 'E;
fov the uses ¥ frannfroses therein mentioned irn jéf
Testimony whersef I hiave hereanto scl my | ‘L
our Lord one thousand Sighthandred Vthady | iE
sever. George Balboa a Justice of the freace

R

? ]

Recorded June the 15, 1848 Thomas Palmer ﬁf
Recoreder SEAL ‘

A S S S S R

Page 220-221 of Deed Book 2 Dearborn County
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GMary sdrn his wifefor & in consideratlionof
sell alien release ¥ confiom unlo lhe said
Canal Comprany and theiv assigns forever; as
belween lthe Hale line belweer Indiarna ¥
Ohic; and lhe Junclion of the Gincinnali ¥
MWhilewaler Canal with lhe While Waleo
the While Walev viver that may be necessary
fovthe constuuclion ¥ free used cf said Canal
Nei24, Joewnshify 7, Rarnge 1 Westin the Hale
Godley Wdﬂmyd@m/ﬂwmﬁo/m & lo the
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belonging ov ir any wise apferlaining; and
the issues and vights therect; Yo have and lo
hold said friemises lo & fov the use of the Canal
Gompany forevey; yel upor condition lthat is |
said @mm& should notl tbe constucled ov
cause te atbandoned, WMM/@VM@W
that the vight hereby granted Fhalt /mm -----
thenceforll cease; and rovert lo lhe said |
WWMWW“‘WWMWW
a commeon higheway would do; In Milness |
Whereof, the said Jobn Godley ¥ Mary nn |
MWWWM{/WWW & Seals
Cight handred ¥ lthirly rine ga/m,
Godley

Signed seated ¥ achnowledgedin lhe fresence ||
of

Tasias Tefam F____ (s oo o ﬁ
vead ( 0@@@4&/%@ of Indiana Dearborn ||
13
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appreared John Godley ¥ acknowledged the ||
above instvument lo be his Voluntary act & |
Deed for lhe wse and frurfcses lhevein
hereanto sel my hand Wyeal//u}y?Ja’ag/a/

eight hundred & thirly-severn

Recorded June the 15, 1848 Fhomas Falmer
Recorder @W Balbea a ga‘v/wey a/ the
Prace SEAL

(See map on page 13)

Indianapolis Journal
. Matters Abéut Town

| Yesterday a paxr of hcrses while crps' 'ng the b

canal on Washington Street, fell into a crack w1th the fo

fortunately for the city, however, without i injuring them
. Subrmtted by Wanda
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Partial map of Hamilton County, Ohio, 1847.
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Page 401& 402 Deed Book 2 Dearborn County

@incinnals and MWhile Walor Ganat ]

WWWW@WW Jh&%ﬂgxax

Jownshife numéber seven and range number .

WM%MMWMW as

WWMWWWWWW

%M&WWWW

; .

nd wilh the said calev.
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Canal lo the @mmma/&/mmf MUtile Maler
Banal as formerly localed and construcled to |
connect wilh the Hhile Haler Valley Banal |
W%WWM& (gaow willy the
willy the caler m/e/VavM/ slefre of l/w
a/l/tacmm&la//&am&y/aﬁ/luw //wncee/"mlé/
willy the said Hlale or nmulta/n/ line lo the |
/»law/o/e%eguuwng/ y all the tand | Eb
the said mmn/na/ﬁ/ and 1
W/wley Wwfm/ WWWQ%’WM l/w
| Banal with the said While Haler "Val/qy/ .
@W@MWW@M%&WWW a
the Cincinnale and MWhile Waler %a/na/&mu%
Mwem/ﬁamy&b/@luwmaﬁl/w W/wk/ |
alé/bwamwmwfawao@g nuw/nuwhaﬂ/wo/ ,1
ar acre: JWWWWWW@M .
/ox//&aamnp/ﬁelony(mg/ Fo have |
Eincinnali W @//a//m/ Canal gq
éfwmlow .,da!nmmhalm«v de /tmﬁy/
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whalscever: ggwmi&waww/t%a%l/wymaﬁgoﬁm/

@Wg@aﬁm

County ot
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m@nlmneaﬁ W J/L@Wt/ﬂa/tyﬂm ggadl@y/ j
and a/&a/cl /mm /m ma,/ 3‘3
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Recorded May 30, 1850 Fhos. Palmer ||
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TOWPATH EBEBANK
.‘
)

CONFIBURATION FOR TOWPATH BANK FOR UARIOUS
ORIGINAL GROUND LEUELS. BERM BANK BUILT UP
IN SIMILAR FASHION.

: h’/// \\\\4 > BANK SLOPES ALL 0.57 (30DEG)
/

3! 2TI ' /\sv
6" 2!
SURFACE | 1 1 -———__hh*-~“_“\\\\\

T THIS BANK CONFIGURATION
CANAL 4 USED FOR DRIGINAL GROUND
LEVEL IN THIS 4' RANGE

TOWPATH SLOPE - 9" IN 10’

BOTTOM 1

b THIS BANK CONFIGURATION USED FOR

| ORIGINAL GROUND LEUEL IN THIS 3' RANGE
IN BENERAL, THE CANAL BANKS WERE MADE HIGHER THIS BANK CONFIBURATION USED FOR ORIGINAL
AND WIDER WHENEUER THEY WERE COMPOSED OF FILL GROUND LEUEL 3' OR MORE BELOW CANAL BOTTOM

PLACED ON THE ORIGINAL GROUND LEUVEL. THE GREATER
THE AHMOUNT OF FILL REQUIRED TO BUILD UP THE
CANAL BED OR ITS BANKS, THE HIGHER AND WIDER THE
BANKS WERE MADE TO COMPENSATE FOR THE GREATER
PERMEABILITY DF THE LOOSE FILL. '

Diagram by Allen Vincent

OB 7 S S T S —————— o — i ——

This is the canal construction as described in “Explanation of the Rules and Specifications” which begins on page 28 of this edition of “Indiana Canals.”
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RECORDING DEEDS

Charles (Chuck) Huppert csl vice-president and an attomey‘
in Ind;anapolls was contacted by CSI headquarters to explam what
an indenture is, how a deed is recorded, and the lmportanoe of a
seal on a deed. His explanation follows. :

Generally an “Indenture” is a deed between two or more parties.
They were called indented because duplicates of every deed were
written on one skin, which was then cut in half with a jagged edge so
that when the duplicates were produced in court they were seen to
belong to one another by fitting the jagged edges together. Itis an
old form of description which continues universally today.

The execution of a deed transfers some kind of title regardless of
whether it is recorded with a governmental official or not. But, no
notice is given the world of the ownership. Back in the 1800s, it was
not unusual for a deed to be recorded much later than the date on
which it was signed. Don't forget life moved slower then and county
seats were sometimes a day or two travel, so the instrument didn’t
get recorded for a while. Deeds were recorded in Deed Books which
were consecutively numbered. Each page of each book was a deed
or portion of a deed. So the Book and Page got you to the deed.
Now we do it by instrument number which gets you to a microfiche
and more modernly, like in Marion County, to a digital image on a
screen.

Recording the deed as late as a year after the execution is not
uncommon. I've recorded deeds years after they are signed. For
example, a deed may be held and not recorded until after the death
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of an individual.

A seal can be anything which purports to be a seal. So the squiggles
were very common back then. Of course, they said “seal” so that
everyone knew that it was a seal. Seals used to be absolutely
required. Today this is not so, except with regard to Notaries,
certified court documents and other official proclamations.

The date of the signing or execution of the deed is the operative
date, not the date it was finally recorded. In the case of the above
deeds, that would be the date John Godley and his wife turned over
the land to the Cincinnati & White Water Canal Company.

The first deed that was on page 220 of the book dated 1 Jun 1847
is a Quit Claim Deed. This means that Godley is selling his land to
the Cincinnati & White Water Canal Co. of Ohio in fee simple, but
Godley makes no warranty that he owns the land. Note that he is
not a part to the sale. If he was married on June 1, this would have
meant that his wife was not giving up her dower interest in the land
(we have different laws today). Also it is interesting that the land is
only the east ¥z section 24, township 7 north, range 1 west whereas
the two other deeds include the entire section. Note: that Dearborn
County land descriptions are in the Gore (established in 1802). That
is the only portion of Indiana where land descriptions are measured
from the First Principal Meridian rather than from the Second
Principal Meridian which runs north-south through Paoli, Orange
County. The Gore is defined by a straight line from Ft. Recovery in
Ohio (Mercer County) to the mouth of the Kentucky River on the
Ohio. Then up the Ohio to the First Principal Meridian (which is the
Indiana-Ohio state line) then north along the state line to where it
intersects with the above described straight line from Ft. Recovery.
It appears that this land is merely described by the existing canal
that was already dug.

The next deed on pages 220-221 is not really a deed but rather an
easement or right-of-way. The consideration for this was only
$1.00. Godley's wife executed this. But note that if the canal is



Page 22 Indiana Canals

never built or ceases being used, the land reverts back to them, their
heirs and assigns. This includes all of Section 24, not just the east
v |t is dated 11 Feb 1839 about 20 months after the first deed in
fee. Obviously the canal is still being constructed at this time. It
covers the ground necessary to construct the Cincinnati & White
Water Canal from the state line to its intersection with the White
Water Canal. There is no other description of land other than a
general one.

The last deed is a Warranty Deed in fee simple. The wife, Mary,
signed which means she gave up her dower interest in case John
Godley died. This deed covers all of Section 24 and the legal
description is very specific. It is dated 22 May 1850. So, obviously
the Cincinnati & White Water Canal is completed by this time. The
line runs both along the berm bank and the towpath bank on the
outside where the banks intersect with the natural surface. The
distance is from the state line to the intersection of the White Water
Canal. The land consists of 4.79 acres. This is the 1/4 mile or 18
chains mentioned in Lapham’s report. Most of the maps I've seen
show the Cincinnati & White Water intersecting with the White
Water right at the State Line. Obviously this was not the case as
can be seen on the 1847 Map of Harrison County, OH.

Also, if you read the legal description on the third deed carefully you
will note that the line of the description where the two canals
intersect (that is, transverse to the Cincinnati & White Water Canal
and parallel with the White Water Canal) is a southerly line. So the
White Water Canal at the point of intersection is running generally
north and south.
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RESEARCH PAPER
SUBMITTED FOR MARKE

The CSI Marker Committee, chaired by Wanda Willis, csi board
member from Indianapolis, had to submit a significance statement and research
paper when applying for an Indiana State Format Marker to be placed at the
junction of the Whitewater and Cincinnati & Whitewater Canals at West Harrison,
IN. This statement and the research paper (without footnotes) were as follows:

SIGNIFICANCE

At West Harrison, Indiana’s Whitewater Canal and Ohio’s
Cincinnati and Whitewater Canal were joined and created a
waterway linking the Whitewater River valley with the Ohio River. "

This connection established a major interstate transportation
network which we want to mark. Very appropriately the town of
Harrison is right on the state line and State Street splits the town
into Indiana and Ohio sections.

RESEARCH PAPER

The Whitewater Canal was authorized by the Internal Improvement

Bill of 1836. Thirty miles of the canal from Lawrenceburg to
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Brookville was placed under contract on September 13, 1836. This
was followed by a groundbreaking ceremony on the same day
(September 13, 1836) at Brookville as the construction of the canal
was commenced. An estimated 4,000 citizens attended the
celebration. The canal was completed from Lawrenceburg to
Brookville in June of 1839. That month the first canal boat passed
through it arriving in Brookville. The canal was permanently
opened in July 1839. At the state line in West Harrison, IN., Dam
#1 was built across the Whitewater River to create a pool of water as
a means for canal boats to cross the river. A road bridge was built
across this pool. From here, the canal proceeded 7 miles into Ohio.
This avoided the range of hill, immediately south of the town. Ohio

granted the approval for this deviation into their state on February “
24, 1834. The Whitewater Canal then turned westward and returned

to Indiana to terminate in Lawrenceburg. A

The deviation of the canal into Ohio was seen by a group of
Cincinnati businessmen as an opportunity they couldn’t resist. By
tapping into the canal at the pool of the dam at Harrison on the farm
of John Godley, Esquire, they could route products directly to their
city via a 25 mile long canal. The Cincinnati & Whitewater Canal
was incorporated by the Ohio General Assembly on April 1, 1837.
Groundbreaking took place on March 31, 1838 on the farm of
William Henry Harrison at North Bend, OH. By the end of 1840 the
portion of the canal from Harrison to Dry Fork Creek in Ohio was
finished but not watered. The opening of the Cincinnati and
Whitewater Canal was delayed until the 1,782 foot long tunnel at
Cleves, OH was completed. The Cincinnati and Whitewater Canal
finally opened in November of 1843 and was watered its entire
length by the slackwater pool created by the dam below Harrison.
The first canal boat arrived in Cincinnati that same month. This
was just four years after the Whitewater Canal had been completed
from Brookville to Lawrenceburg. After the Cincinnati and
Whitewater opened, much of the canal commerce from West
Harrison to Lawrenceburg was drained off the Whitewater Canal and
was diverted to Cincinnati. This, along with four major floods that
washed out the main Whitewater Canal’s structures, hastened its
demise.




e
Winter 1999 Page 25

The Whitewater Canal went into receivership in 1855. The
Cincinnati and Whitewater Canal was sold to the Cincinnati &
Indiana Railroad Company in 1862.

RELATING TO THE CONSTRUCTION

FICATIONS

e! Draining -- In all cases of

Q deep cutting, no part of the

surplus of earth or spoil bank

shall be deposited within

wn fifteen feet of the cutting

(1] stakes on the towing path

w1 side, nor within ten feet on

D the opposite side of the

canal, unless it be directed

by the acting commissioner

or superintending engineer for the
purpose of raising the bank of the
canal above the natural surface of
the earth in order to throw the

Submitted by Stan Schmitt

This issue of Indiana Canals contains the fourth installment of
one of several lists of rules and specifications used for canal
construction in Indiana at various times. This list is printed as
a pamphlet that was found in the Archives Division of the

F=' Indiana Commission on Public Records and was printed for
= prospective canal contractors of the Wabash and Erie Canal.

Following it we offer an explanation as to what the rules and
specifications meant and why they were important.

water back from the canal.
Spoil banks shall in all
cases be so formed that the
water which falls thereon
shall drain back from the
canal as much as possible,
and not run down onto the
towing path or berm bank
opposite thereto. In
forming spoil banks which
are raised higher than the
immediate banks of the canal,
gaps, or spaces ten feet wide at

TVNVO AIdd % HSVAVM dHL 40
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bottom shall be left in said banks
as frequently as one in every two
chains, in order to facilitate the
draining of the water from the
towing path and berm banks.
Drains shall also be
made in order to turn

that the water will in no instance
stand on either bank or in the
ditches, but will readily drain off.

Locks - Dimensions -- Locks shall
be eighty-seven feet
long in the chamber

the water off from said between the upper and
banks as frequently as “Locks shall lower gates, arll)clijiiﬁeen
one in every two be feet in the clear. The
chains where the eigmy-eeven thickness of the walls
height of the natural feet lon g i shall be equgl to not les:s
earth and the than one third of their
comparative height of the chamber | neight.

the .bank's will aFllnit 9f betweea the '
ploucierl IS LU e
where this method lower elevation as said
cannot be adopted, gotes...” commissioner or
ways or drains paved engineer may prescribe,

with stone, and

puddled, shall be constructed as
frequently as the acting
commissioner or superintending
engineer shall deem necessary, in
order to permit the drainage water
to flow into the canal without
cutting the banks or carrying earth
into the canal. Both the towing
path and berm banks, and the side
ditches immediately in their rear
shall have a uniform descent of at
least six inches to the chain
toward the ditches or paved ways,
which shall be made at the lowest
points of said banks or ditches, so

but in all cases as low
as the bottom of canal below the
lock. When a good even
foundation of solid, compact and
durable rock cannot, in the
opinion of the commissioner or
engineer having charge of the
work, be procured at the proper
elevation, the foundation shall be
composed of good, sound, hard
and durable timber, hewed square,
and not less than one foot in
thickness which shall be laid
horizontally cross wise of the lock
pit, level and even, not less than
one nor more than two feet beyond
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the outward base of the walls.
This timber shall rest on a bed of
good gravel puddle of such depth
as the said commissioner or
engineer may deem necessary and
shall direct, into which it shall be
driven or sunk at least one inch,
and the spaces between the timbers
shall be perfectly filled
with good puddle
composed of gravel
and such other
suitable materials as
said commissioner or
engineer may
designate, which shall
be thoroughly rammed
andpacked, beginning
at the bottom of each space. Two
or more rows of sheet piling to be
composed of good, sound, straight
and square edged white oak plank,
set close together and battened if
necessary, extending to such
depths as said commissioner or
engineer may deem necessary, and
shall designate, shall be set into
the ground across the foundation,
in a ditch to be cut for that
purpose, which shall be
thoroughly filled with good puddle
well rammed. A floor to be
composed of good sound three
inch plank, free from shakes, well
Jjointed so as to form tight joints,
shall be laid over the whole
foundation of timber above

“A floor 1o be
composed of

good sovad
theee iach plaak

described and thoroughly spiked
down to the timber underneath.
The whole space between the walls
of the lock extending from the
breast at least ten feet below the
lower mitre sill, shall also be
covered with a tight well laid floor
to be composed of good, sound and
firm white oak
plank, two inches
in thickness, free
from shakes, rots
and unsound knots,
jointed both at the
side and ends,
which shall be
thoroughly spiked
down with spikes
of the proper size, and not less
than ten inches in length. At least
five spikes in every ten square feet
shall be used in laying this floor.

The face of the rock walls shall be
laid in courses or range work,
composed of cut stone; the stone
forming each course to be of equal
thickness, through the whole
course. No face stone shall be less
than eight inches in thickness.
Every face stone shall be at least
fourteen inches in breadth
throughout its whole length, and
in no instance shall be of less
breadth than thickness. No face
stone shall be more than half an
inch thicker at the face than at the
back, and shall be as nearly of
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uniform thickness throughout as
may be. The joints or edges of
face stone shall be straight and
square both on the beds and at the
ends, making close joints at the
ends from the face back eight

into each course except the bottom
course of the face wall, not more
than ten feet apart, measuring
from center to center, in any place,
and so arranged that the headers
in each successive course will be

inches at least. Headers not less
than two feet broad and four feet
six inches in length, and as large
throughout the whole length as at
the face, shall be prepared and laid

placed over the space between
headers in the course beneath.

(to be continued)

RULES AND SPECIFICATIONS

By Carolyn and Bob Schmidt

In the Fall 1998 issue of Indiana Canals Vol. 9 No. 4, embankment
and excavation of the canal banks was explained. In this issue
drainage on and around the banks is one of the specifications
explained. To help visualize how these banks were constructed so
that they would drain properly, Allen Vincent, CSI board member
from Fort Wayne, has drawn a diagram that can be found on the
pages 18 and 19 of this issue and referred to when reading this
explanation. It shows three different specifications used when the
banks of the canal were built: 1) how the canal was constructed
below ground level as in the case of a deep cut, 2) at ground level,
and 3) above ground level . CSI has not found any such diagrams in
the Indiana State Archives or in any other references pertaining to
Indiana’s canals, although some diagrams do exist for canals
constructed in other states. We only know of a few hand drawn
sketches and hand copied rules and specifications one man drew in
his day journal that is in the Indiana State Archives. Therefore, it is
possible that you, the reader, have more visual information of these

EXPLANATION OF THE
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construction methods than Indiana’s canal engineers or contractors had
at the time the canal was built! We need more research by canal sleuths
to unearth any old maps, diagrams of structures, etc.

To prevent ground water
runoff from entering the
canal, contractors were
given guidelines to follow
when constructing the
canal. As the canal

DRAINAGE

Although a canal needs flowing water to function, it is a regulated
flow, which means that it is extremely important to control the
inflow and outflow of the water in the canal.

the command whether the turn to
be made was haw or gee. The boss
would throw his weight on the
back end of the cartbed when it
would tip down and shoot the dirt

out backward and

was dug Irish workers down the
with two wheeled While one embankment, or on
carts pulled by mules the level ground, or in
carried the earth to h‘_)rse el a hole or sink
build the towpath and being led to according to the
berm. A good ank progress of the
description of how the b O.r embankment. Then
this was done was towpath, six drives (sic) would
written in a scrapbook to ejght lead the horse and
by John T. Campbell, shoveler cart back to the shovel
who worked on the VEICTS pit and turn and back
Wabash and Erie would be the cart to the pit and
Canal when he was fillin lead the other horse
still a boy. A portion g the,, and cart to the bank.
of his scrapbook was other cart. While one horse was
published in the being led to the bank

Indianapolis Star of
July 26, 1907.

“All the dirt was moved in carts
and wheelbarrows. Each teamster
led two horses, one at a time, from
the shovel pit to the dump, or tow
path, where a dump boss directed
to ‘haw gee and back.” That was

or towpath, six to
eight shovelers would be filling
the other cart.”

Any excess dirt was carried to the
spoil bank and deposited. Spoil
banks were always abundant
where a deep cut was required. A
deep cut is when the canal bed is
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dug well below the natural surface
of the surrounding terrain. This
generates an abundance of excess
dirt and extra banks called spoil
banks were formed. These banks
were to be constructed more than
15 ft. beyond the cutting stakes on
the towpath side and more than 10
ft. beyond the cutting stakes on the
berm side. These stakes were
placed by the engineers to define
the cut of the canal. Every two
chains ( 66 ft x 2 =132 ft ) drains
were to be allowed through the
spoil banks to divert drainage
water away from the canal. These
drains were to be ten feet wide.
They prevented stagnant pools of
water from standing along the side
of the canal and also were a means
of quickly getting rid of excess
water during a freshet, a heavy
rain.

If drainage could not be
established away from the canal,
paving stones that were puddled
in-between were to be used to
divert water into the canal. The

stones prevented the rushing water
from eroding the bank and
reduced the inflow of silt into the
canal channel.

The spoil banks were to slope to
the rear at a uniform descent of 6
inches to the chain (66 ft) with the
drains constructed at the lowest
points. This was a very gentle
slope. These banks were not
seeded, sodded or covered with
stone as the steep banks along our
roads of today are treated. They
were left to the natural elements
and erosion. In a season or so the
natural growth would again return
to provide protection from erosion.

As seen from the specifications,
the engineers did not want
standing stagnant water on either
the banks or in the ditches.
Standing water could cause the
towing animals to slip and be
injured. It could soften the banks
and lead to erosion or bank
deterioration. Stagnant water bred
discase.

@ Locks were the means used to raise or lower boats from one level of
the canal to another to overcome major changes of elevation.

@
© Only a gentle change in
mel clevation within each level
of the canal could be
allowed or the water would flow
too rapidly and cause erosion and
make towing the boats against the

current more difficult.  The
normal drop within a level was 1-2
inches per mile. The water lift
(elevation change) within the lock
varied from 3-10 feet depending
on the natural elevation of the land
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the canal traversed.

The locks were 90' long from gate
post to gate post but 87' from gate
to gate. This variation was caused
because the mitre sill angled the

finished stone lock.

Other types of locks that
were used on Indiana’s
canals were the composite
lock (combination or
combined lock) of rough
rubble stone lined with
planking, the timber crib
lock and the timber frame
lock. In this article the
specifications for
foundation and planking
are compared with what
was found when the
Gronauer Lock, a timber lock
located on the Wabash & Erie
Canal in New Haven, IN, was
dismantled in 1992. Craig
Leonard, Historic Preservationist
from Bluffton, IN and CSI
Advisory Council member who
was in charge of its removal,
provided the information on the
Gronauer.

Before any lock could be built, an
excavation called a lock pit had to
be dug. This pit for a standard 15
ft. x 90 ft. lock was approximately

LOCK FOUNDATIONS

gates into the lock chamber on the
downstream side of the lock taking
up three feet. The locks were 154t
wide. These dimensions limited a
boat’s size.

The description given in the Rules and Specifications was for a

35 feet wide and two feet below the
bottom of the canal. It was filled
with gravel up to the foundation
timbers and often puddled unless
the lock rested on solid bed rock.
Puddle was made of gravel and
clay that was mixed with water and
rammed with iron bars until all the
air pockets were driven out of it.
In the case of a huge area like the
lock pit, the puddle was often
stamped down by oxen to remove
the air. This made it impervious to
water leakage.

The foundation of both stone and
timber locks was of hewn timber
unless a solid bedrock foundation
could be found at the proper
elevation. The timbers were 1 foot
thick hewed square and extended
1-2 feet beyond the outside of the
cribs or the stones in the case of a
stone lock. In the Gronauer Lock
the timbers were 9 inches thick,
12-18 inches wide, and extended
beyond the cribs by 1-2 feet. They
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were of yellow poplar. They had
a gap of 6-8 inches between them.
The timbers were placed on
gravel and puddle was rammed
between them.

Flowing water could undercut a
lock and render it uscless.
Therefore the engineers wanted
sheet piling of white oak driven
vertically across the ends of the
lock foundation to prevent water
from going beneath the timbers.
To accomplish this a ditch that
was several feet deep had to be
dug across the lock. Then these
two to three inch planks, which
were routed on the edges for a
tongue and groove fitting, were
placed vertically into the ditch
and puddled well on both sides.
Some engineers even battened
these planks with other planks.
Some locks had more than one
row of sheet piling. Finally these
planks were cut flush with the top
surface of the foundation timbers
and often spiked onto the front
edge of one of the timbers.

The sheet piling found in the
Gronauer Lock was placed at
either end of the lock at the base
of the mire sills. Itwas2 -2 2
inches thick, 2 feet wide, 3 feet
long ( extending approximately 2
1, feet deep since some of it was
as high as the top of the timbers)
and was made of oak. Each piece
was placed flush against the next,

but it was not tongue and grooved
nor was it battened. It was placed
across the entire foundation all the
way to the back of the cribs. It was
not spiked to the foundation
timbers. (See photo, page 33)

Three inch thick planks were to be
spiked down on top of this
foundation. The planks had to be
of good quality, free of shakes or
splits that might leak. They had
joints so that they would fit tightly.
The stone in the case of a stone
lock rested on these planks along
the sides of the lock. The lock
chamber itself from the breast wall
or upstream end of the lock all the
way past the downstream mire sill
for at least another ten feet was
planked.

The planking used in the Gronauer
Lock was 2 inches thick and made
of oak. It ran the full length of the
lock chamber from in front of the
gates up to the beginning of the fan
tail. It was not jointed nor did it
cover the entire foundation. This
planking was found under the rock
filled cribs at either end of the lock
but not under the soil filled cribs in
its center. The engineers simply
laid down a one inch thick plank
the length of the lock chamber for
both the inner and outer walls of
the cribs using it much like a
footprint for the lock. On top of
this they placed another two inch
plank before constructing the cribs.
The outer wall of the cribs was
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This picture shows the removal of the last timber from the Gronauer Lock. It
also shows the sheet piling near the west or upstream end of the lock that kept
water from undermining the lock. It is the straight row sticking up in the water.
The other rows are of the puddle that remained after the timbers were removed.

Photo by Bob Schmidt

then built with hewed logs
alternating courses with two inch
planks until the top of the lock
was reached. The inner wall, that
which was next to the lock
chamber, was built with logs that
were hewed flat on the top and
bottom laid right on top of one
another.

This second layer of planking
which will be referred to as
flooring was specified be two
inches thick; be free of shakes,
knots, and rots; and to have joints

both along its sides and at its ends.
This was to prevent the wood from
curling up and a boat being
snagged on it and to prevent
leaking. The spikes used were at
least ten inches long. To make
sure the planking was soundly
attached, the specifications
required five spikes in every ten
square feet of floor. (See photo,
page 34)

In the Gronauer Lock, the one
inch thick oak flooring was only
laid inside the lock chamber and
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This picture shows the floor planking in the lock chamber of the Gronauer Lock

R .-. : SR S

#2 of the Wabash and Erie Canal in New Haven, IN. Notice it is laid running
the length of the lock. The lower portion of the south side lock cribs are visible

as well. Photo by Allen Vincent

overlapped the joints of the first
layer of planking. It was 12 feet
long and did not have tongue and
groove joints on its sides or at its
ends. It was staggered by three
feet from the previous planking

layer to make it watertight. The
spikes used were approximately
10 inches long.

The fantail at the downstream end
of the Gronauer Lock was
constructed by placing 9 inch x
12 inch poplar timbers side by
side and placing thicker ones
across the lock at intervals of
several feet to make baffles to slow
down the water flow. These
timbers were of varying lengths
since the fantail was triangular in
shape.
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entire course or layer.

This insured that the wall
was equally sound on the
entire layer and fit tightly
to assure a watertight
compartment. The stone
walls were usually made
up of a finished stone
face wall and a secondary
wall behind it that were
tied together using header
stones. The face stones
ran parallel with the
length of the lock. The
header stones were placed at
right angles to the face stones
and lay on top of both the face
and secondary wall stones on the
course below thus tying them

STONE LOCK WALLS

The stone was required to be uniform in thickness throughout the

together. This created a pattern
in the stone work.

The Face Stones, often called
stretchers, all had to be of eight
inches of equal thickness. They
were also to be fourteen inches
in breadth. Sometimes it was
difficult to get the stones to the
precise size. These stones were
never to be of less breadth than
the 8 inches of thickness. The
length of these stones was not
prescribed. If a stone was
thicker on one side of its length
than the other, the thickest side
was placed next to the lock

chamber. This thickness was
g 3 )

The Curley Hayes Lock at Lagro, IN, shows the pattern created by the face
stones (stretchers) and header stones. Photo by Joe Clark
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never to vary more than one half
inch from one side to the other.
All of the sides and corners of
the face stones had to have
straight and square sides (beds)
and ends so that the joints would
fit tightly together for at least
cight inches back from the
lockchamber to prevent leakage.

The Header Stones were to be
placed in every course at
intervals of not more than ten
feet except on the bottom course.
This was measured from the
center of one header to the center
of the next header. These

headers, which strengthen the
wall and kept it from shifting,
were to be staggered between
courses so that on the successive
course the header was placed
over the space between the
previous headers on the course
below. Note this pattern on the
next stone lock you visit. ( see
photo insert) The engineers
wanted these stones to all have
the same dimensions as close as
possible. The prescribed width
was two feet broad and length
was four feet six inches. They
needed to be eight inches thick
like the face stones in the course.

NOTE: Sharp-eyed readers probably noticed that Darius Lapham’s
notation of “18 chains, (1/4 mile),” on page 4, was an approximation
in regards to its being 1/4 mile. In reality a quarter mile is equal to
20 chains (66 ft x 20 = 1320 ft). Besides the chain, which is 66 feet,
other units of measurement that may be of use to modern day
canawlers are: 1 rod = 16.5 feet; 1 acre = 160 square rods; 640
acres = 1 square mile, also known as a section. Happy canawlin’!

Editor
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